STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

05-03-2017

Appellate Case No. 2017AP296

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

TRACY D. MARTIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appealed From a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Jean Marie Kies Presiding, Trial Court Case No. 15 CT 1041

Respectfully Submitted:

Melowski & Associates, LLC 524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, WI 53081 Telephone: (920) 208-3800 Facsimile: (920) 395-2443

By: **Sarvan Singh, Jr.** State Bar No. 1049920 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. WHETHER THE ARRESTING OFFICER HAD A REASONABLE SUSPICION TO SEIZE MR. MARTIN?

Trial Court Answered: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant believes oral argument is unnecessary in this case. Pursuant to Rule 809.22(2)(b), the briefs will fully develop and explain the issues. Therefore, oral argument would be of only marginal value and would not justify the expensitive of court time.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Moreover, the common law is well settled on the issue presented, and therefore, publication would do little, if anything to clarify this area of the law. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

On May 22, 2015, at approximately 12:30 A.M., Officer Daniel Foy of the West Allis Police Department was dispatched to the parking lot of a Taco Bell in the City of West Allis due to a report of a male sleeping in his vehicle. (R. 35, pp. 2-5.) Dispatch advised that the caller believed that the party inside of the vehicle was intoxicated. (R. 35, p. 5.) Officer Foy did not know if the caller had identified themselves and did not get a description of the car from dispatch. (R. 35, p. 17.)

Upon arriving on scene, Officer Foy observed the vehicle parked perpendicular, at about a forty-five degree angle, to an actual parking spot and was occupying "about" four different parking spots. (R. 35, p. 7.) However, it was a "very empty parking lot" and there was plenty of room to park. (R. 38, p. 18.) The driver also appeared to be sleeping. (R. 35, p. 7.) The engine was not running and the vehicle was in park, but the headlights were operating and the keys were in the ignition. (R. 35, pp. 6, 13.) Officer Foy ran the vehicle's registration and observed that the vehicle belonged to Tracy Martin who had three prior convictions for Operating While Intoxicated and thus had a .02 alcohol restriction. (R. 35, p. 7.)

Officer Kleinfeldt, who arrived with Officer Foy, then went through the passenger side door and removed the keys. (R. 35, p. 6.) The subsequent investigation led to the arrest of Martin for Operating While Intoxicated. (R. 35, pp. 9-10.)

On May 29, 2015, a criminal complaint was filed charging Martin with Operating While Intoxicated–Fourth Offense and Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration–Fourth Offense. (R. 1.) On November 30, 2015, Martin filed a motion to suppress challenging the initial seizure. (R. 8.) The State filed a written response on December 22, 2015, and a motion hearing was held on February 19, 2016, before the Honorable Paul J. Rifelj. (R. 35.)

At the motion hearing, Officer Daniel Foy testified.¹ At the conclusion of testimony and arguments, Judge Rifelj denied Martin's motion. (R. 35, p. 28.) On April 29, 2016, Martin filed a motion for reconsideration. (R. 13.) The State filed a response on May 12, 2016. (R. 14.) On May 31, 2016, Judge Rifelj denied Martin's request for reconsideration in an oral ruling. (R. 36.) On August 1, 2016, a judicial transfer occurred and on August 8, 2016, another motion for reconsideration was filed before the Honorable Jean M. Kies. (R. 17.). On September 16, 2016, Judge Kies denied Martin's second motion for reconsideration. (R. 37.) On December 19, 2016, Martin entered a plea of Guilty to Operating While Intoxicated–Fourth Offense and finding of guilt was entered. The charge of Operating With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration-Fourth Offense was dismissed. (R. 30.) Martin was sentenced accordingly, and the sentence was stayed pending this appeal. (R. 29.)

ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL FRAMEWORK.

The legality of an investigative stop is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *See State v. Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d 243, 250, 557 N.W.2d 245 (1996). When the issue, as here, is whether the police have sufficient justification to detain a citizen, this Court examines that detention in the

¹ Officer Bryan McNally also testified, however, his testimony was deemed irrelevant and terminated by the Court before it was concluded. (R. 35, pp. 19-23.)

framework of *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). *See State v. Swanson*, 164 Wis. 2d 437, 448, 475 N.W.2d 148 (1991) (discussing a "*Terry* investigative detention").

Citizens have a constitutional right to be free from "unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990) (citing the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, sec. 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution). When an officer detains a person, the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments are implicated and reasonable suspicion, at a minimum, must exist for the seizure to be constitutional. *See Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d at 139, citing *United States v. Hensley*, 469 U.S. 221, 226 (1985); *see generally Terry*, 392 U.S. 1; Wis. Stat. § 968.24 (2015-16) (codifying the *Terry* standard).

As held by the trial court, the point of seizure in the present case was when Officer Kleinfeldt opened Martin's vehicle's door, reached in, and removed the keys from the ignition. (R. 25, p. 27.) "A seizure occurs 'when an officer, by means of physical force or a show of authority, restrains a person's liberty." *State v. Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, ¶ 30, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777 (quoting *Harris*, 206 Wis. 2d at 253); *see also Terry*, 392 U.S. 1 ("It must be recognized that whenever a police officer accosts an individual and restrains his freedom to walk away, he has 'seized' that person").

"The State bears the burden of proving that a temporary detention was reasonable." *State v. Pickens*, 2010 WI App 5, ¶14, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1. To execute a valid investigatory stop, *Terry* and its progeny require that a law enforcement officer reasonably suspect, in light of his or her experience, that some kind of criminal activity has taken or is taking place. *Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d at 139 (citing

Terry, 392 U.S. at 27, 30). An officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch" will not suffice. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (citing Terry, 392 U.S. at 27). Therefore, to justify a Terry stop, law enforcement officers "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts" lead them to suspect criminal activity was afoot. Terry, 392 U.S. at 21, 30; State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). The determination of reasonableness is a common sense test based on the totality of the facts and circumstances known to the officer at the time of the stop. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d at 139-40; see also Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶13. This common sense approach balances the rights of the individuals to be free from unreasonable intrusions, and the interests of the State to effectively prevent, detect, and investigate crimes. State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶15, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516; Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶13.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE OFFICERS HAD A REASONABLE SUPICION TO DETAIN MR. MARTIN.

In the present case, at the time of detention there was no indication that the driver of the vehicle was intoxicated or had even consumed alcohol. What must be treated as an anonymous tipster, calls police and reports that an individual is sleeping in a parking lot at 12:30 A.M. and they believed the driver was intoxicated. This naked assertion was made without any supporting reasons given.

Police arrive and observe a vehicle parked askew in more than one parking spot in an otherwise empty lot with plenty of room for other vehicles to park. Based upon this lone observation and that the registered owner has prior Operating While Intoxicated convictions, they seize the driver. In this factual context, there are simply too few objective indicia to support a reasonable suspicion that the driver was intoxicated and therefore subject to immediate seizure without first tapping on a window to wake the driver and ask him a few questions, such as where he was coming from, whether he had been drinking, and the like. This too would have given the officers an opportunity to observe whether the vehicle occupant had slurred speech, bloodshot or glassy eyes, an odor of intoxicants emanating from his person, among other things. Without gathering such particularized evidence, the officers were simply acting on a hunch.

Beginning with the anonymous call, this case fails constitutional scrutiny. The anonymous call clearly lacks the necessary reliability to support a seizure by itself. In some circumstances, information provided by a tipster may justify an investigative stop. *See Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶17. However, before an "informant's tip can give rise to grounds for an investigative stop, police must consider its reliability and content." *Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶17.² In assessing the reliability of a tip, courts must consider the tipster's veracity, credibility and/or the tipster's basis of knowledge. *Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶18.

In *Rutzinski*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court specifically considered "under what circumstances a cell-phone call from an unidentified motorist provides sufficient justification for

² While *Rutzinski* concerned a stop of a vehicle and here we are dealing with a detention, the distinction is one of insignificance. To conduct a lawful traffic stop, an officer needs to have reasonable suspicion that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶¶ 13, 23, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. This is the same as for a *Terry* detention. *See* Section I, at pp. 4-5.

an investigative stop." *Id.*, ¶1. The tip in *Rutzinski* described a truck "weaving within its lane, varying its speed from too fast to too slow, and tailgating." *Id.*, ¶4. Thus, the content of the tip involved illegal conduct. The *Rutzinski* court upheld the stop based on three facts. First, the anonymous tipster left himself open to identification and arrest. *Id.*, ¶32 (citing the crimes of obstruction and misuse of "911"). Specifically, the tipster remained in constant contact with dispatch and pulled over at the scene of the stop. *Id.*, ¶¶ 6-7, 32. Second, the tipster provided verifiable information and contemporaneous observations, indicating their basis of knowledge. *Id.*, ¶33. Third, the tip suggested that Rutzinski was an imminent threat to the public's safety. *Id.*, ¶34.

Unlike *Rutzinski*, the United States Supreme Court in *Flordia v. J.L.*, 529 U.S. 266 (2000), held that the tipster's information fell below the required threshold for reliability. Specifically, the facts in *J.L.* were:

[A]n anonymous caller reported to the Miami-Dade Police that a young black male standing at a particular bus stop and wearing a plaid shirt was carrying a gun. So far as the record reveals, there is no audio recording of the tip, and nothing is known about the informant. Sometime after the police received the tip-the record does not say how long-two officers were instructed to respond. They arrived at the bus stop about six minutes later and saw three black males "just hanging out [there]." One of the three, respondent, J.L., was wearing a plaid shirt. Apart from the tip, the officers had no reason to suspect any of the three of illegal conduct. The officers did not see a firearm, and J.L. made no threatening or otherwise unusual movements. One of the officers approached J.L., told him to put his hands up on the bus stop, frisked him, and seized a gun from J.L.'s pocket.

J.L., 529 U.S. at 268 (citations omitted). The J.L. Court noted

that as an anonymous tip, it failed to demonstrate the informant's veracity, and thus the police were required to corroborate the tip. Id. at 274. Moreover, the J.L. Court explained that police must do more than verify easily obtainable information that tends to identify the suspect, they must verify information that tends to indicate the informant's basis of knowledge about the suspect's illegal activity. Id. at 272; Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶28 (anonymous tips must contain not only a bald assertion that the suspect is engaged in illegal activity but also verifiable information indicating how the tipster came to know of the alleged illegal activity). Importantly, the J.L. Court held that the anonymous tip did not contain any information such as prediction regarding the suspect's future behavior which, if corroborated, would indicate the informant's basis of knowledge. J.L., 529 U.S. at 271. Rather, "all the police had to go on in this case was the bare report of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he [or she] knew about the gun nor supplied any basis for believing he [or she] had inside information about [the suspect]." Id.

Here, the content of the tip was more akin to the facts of *J.L.* We have nothing more than a bare report of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he [or she] knew about the individual being intoxicated nor supplied any basis for believing he [or she] had inside information about Martin. Put another way, there was no verifiable information indicating how the tipster came to believe Martin was intoxicated. Nor was there any way to judge the credibility of the tipster.

Next, the remaining facts do not add the necessary suspicion. The fact that the vehicle was parked diagonally in the lot does not provide reasonable suspicion that the driver is intoxicated. It was on private property, the vehicle was not impeding any traffic, the parking lot was "very" empty, and there was plenty of room for other vehicles to park. Even if combined with the fact that the registration came back to someone with prior convictions for Operating While Intoxicated, this is simply not enough to provide anything more than a hunch that the driver was impaired. Notably absent are the typical indicators of impairment noted by officers such as slurred speech, the odor of intoxicants, red or bloodshot eyes, glossy eyes, glassy eyes, fumbling with documentation, *etc.*. Moreover, at the time of the seizure, it was unknown how long the vehicle had been parked or whether this was even the same driver being complained about.

Again, without providing a basis for why the caller believed the person to be intoxicated, such a bald assertion provides no support for the reasonable suspicion analysis. By itself, the call would certainly not provide sufficient articulable facts. While the combination of the facts may justify a hunch, there are simply insufficient facts to reasonably believe that Martin was intoxicated. Rather than immediately seizing the driver in such circumstances, simply speaking with the driver before initiating the seizure would have been reasonable. Any ongoing emergency or danger to the public was greatly minimized as the vehicle was not running and the vehicle was parked. Likewise, the tipster's report failed to carry any urgency justifying the immediate seizure. Initiating a seizure was thus unreasonable under the circumstances.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Mr. Martin respectfully requests that this Court reverse the denial of his motion to suppress, vacate the judgment of conviction, and remand for further proceedings not inconsistent therewith. Dated this ____ day of May, 2017.