RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-01-2017

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP000296-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

TRACY DEAN MARTIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEAN MARIE KIES, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Jennifer L. Pickett Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1073500 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT OR ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
STANDARD OF REVIEW4
ARGUMENT4
I. LEGAL FRAMEWORK4
II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE OFFICERS HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO DETAIN MARTIN
CONCLUSION8

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES CITED

Page
Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984)
Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 120 S. Ct. 1375, 146 L. Ed. 2d 254 (2000)6
Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119 (2000)5
State v. Allen, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999)5
State v. Houghton, 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 1434
State v. Jackson, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 434 N.W.2d 386 (1989)4
State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634
State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463
State v Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d
State v. Sloan, 2007 WI App 146, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W. 2d 1894, 5
State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 3055
State v. Williams, 2002 WI App 306, 258 Wis. 2d 395, 655 N.W.2d 4624

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)		
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED		
U. S. Const. amend. IV	4	
Wis. Const. art. 1, § 11	4	

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2017AP000296-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

TRACY DEAN MARTIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEAN MARIE KIES, **PRESIDING**

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the arresting officer have reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. Martin?

Trial Court answered: Yes

State's Position on Appeal: Yes

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. *See* Wis. Stat (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. *See* Wis. Stat (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 22, 2015, around 12:30AM, West Allis Police Officer Foy was dispatched to Taco Bell in the city of West Allis. (R35:5). Dispatch advised that they had a report of a male sleeping in his vehicle in the parking lot and the caller believed the male to be intoxicated. *Id.* When Officer Foy arrived to the Taco Bell, he observed the vehicle parked perpendicular at about a forty-five degree angle to any actual parking spot. (R35:7). Officer Foy also observed that there was a male in the driver's seat vehicle, later to be determined Martin, with his head back against the head rest. *Id.* Martin had a taco in one of his hands and was sleeping. Officer Foy observed that the keys were in the ignition with the headlights on, but the vehicle's engine was not running. (R35:14).

Officer Foy then ran the registration for the vehicle that was occupied by Martin. (R35:7). That check revealed that the vehicle was registered to Martin and that Martin had three prior OWI convictions. *Id.* Martin also had a .02 alcohol restriction. *Id.* At this point, Officer Kleinfeldt and Officer Foy approached Martin's vehicle. (R35:6). Officer Kleinfeldt approached on the passenger side of the vehicle. *Id.* Officer Kleinfeldt then entered through the passenger side door of the vehicle and removed the keys from the ignition, so as to not possibly startle Martin in a potential situation where he may react and drive away. *Id.*

Martin was eventually arrested for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant after he performed poorly on the Standardized Field Sobriety Tests. (R35:10). On May 29, 2016, the State filed the Criminal Complaint charging Martin with one count of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated – Fourth Offense and one count of Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration – Fourth Offense. (R1).

On November 30, 2015, Martin filed a Motion to Suppress based on the initial seizure of Martin. (R10). The State filed a written response on December 22, 2015. (R11). A motion hearing was held on February 19, 2016 before the Honorable Paul J. Rifelj. (R35).

Judge Rifelj denied Martin's motion to suppress. He found that officers were called to respond to Taco Bell because of a report of a possible intoxicated driver at that specific location. (R35:27-28). When officers arrived at that specific location, they saw the vehicle parked irregularly, they see Martin asleep at the wheel, the keys were in the ignition, the vehicle's headlights were on, and it was 12:30AM. Judge Rifelj held that the vast majority of reasonable people would have a reasonable suspicion under those circumstances that Martin may have been operating while intoxicated. (R35:28).

On April 29, 2016, Martin filed a motion for reconsideration. (R15). On May 12, 2016, the State filed a response to Martin's reconsideration motion. (R16). On May 31, 2016, the judge denied Martin's motion for reconsideration (R36), holding that the anonymous tip was part of the reasonable suspicion, but the personal observations of the officer when approaching the vehicle were enough to cause a reasonable person to suspect that there was an OWI afoot. (R36:4). On August 1, 2016, a judicial transfer occurred, and on August 8, 2016, Martin filed the motion for reconsideration again. (R15). On September 16, 2016, the Honorable Jean M. Kies denied Martin's motion. (R37). On December 19, 2016. Martin pled guilty to Operating While Intoxicated and the judgement of conviction was entered. (R30). The charge of Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration was dismissed. Id.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of a motion to suppress evidence involves a two-step analysis. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463 (citations omitted); *State v. Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 7, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W. 2d 189. First, appellate courts will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless clearly erroneous. *Robinson*, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 22; *Sloan*, 303 Wis. 2d 438, ¶ 7. And second, whether those facts constitute reasonable suspicion are reviewed de novo. *State v. Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 829, 434 N.W.2d 386 (1989).

ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL FRAMEWORK

The United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures, U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 11. Wisconsin's constitutional provisions on searches and seizures are understood to be "coextensive" with the federal constitution. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶¶ 49-50, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (citation omitted).

In *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968), the United States Supreme Court established that an investigatory stop is a seizure that is permitted when the officer has reasonable suspicion, based on the totality of the circumstances, that the person stopped has committed, is committing or is about to commit a crime or violation. The Court later extended the reasoning in Terry to include investigatory traffic stops. *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 439 (1984).

The essential inquiry is whether the officer's actions were reasonable under all the facts and circumstances present. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI App 306, ¶ 12, 258 Wis. 2d 395, 403–04, 655 N.W.2d 462, 466. The State carries the burden to establish that an investigative stop is reasonable. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion becomes a common sense test: "What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." *State v. Allen*, 226 Wis. 2d 66, 71, 593 N.W.2d 504 (Ct. App. 1999) (quotation omitted); *see also Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 125 (2000) ("[T]he determination of reasonable suspicion must be based on commonsense judgments and inferences about human behavior").

In determining whether an officer has the requisite reasonable suspicion, a court looks at the facts known to the officer at the time, together with any rational inferences drawn from those facts. But an officer is not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief investigatory stop. *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 16, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305.

A fair summary of the applicable law is that reasonable suspicion is subject to an objective inquiry based on the totality of the circumstances. While reasonable suspicion requires less than the probable cause necessary for an arrest, it requires more than an unparticularized suspicion or hunch. An officer is not required to eliminate all possibilities of innocent behavior before initiating a Fourth Amendment intrusion; it is a common sense balancing between the interests of the public in solving crime with the reasonableness of the intrusion.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE OFFICERS HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO DETAIN MARTIN

In the present case, it is the State's position that the officers clearly had the reasonable suspicion to detain Martin. At 12:30AM, Officer Foy was dispatched to the Taco Bell parking lot (R35:5). The caller stated that a male was sleeping in his vehicle in the parking lot and the caller believed the male to be intoxicated. *Id.* The State agrees with Martin in that this caller must be treated as an anonymous tipster.

Officer Foy testified that prior to making contact with Martin, that is all the information that he had. (R35:12). Officer

Foy also testified that he did not get the description of the vehicle that was parked in the Taco Bell parking lot with the male sleeping in it. (R35:18). Martin argues that that the anonymous call fails constitutional scrutiny, because it lacks the necessary reliability to support a seizure by itself. (Appellant's Brief: 6). The State would agree with that assertion, if that were the only information available to the officer, and the officer hadn't made his own observations. However, Officer Foy had made his own observations when he arrived at Taco Bell. Martin incorrectly focuses his argument primarily on the anonymous tip.

Martin argues that this case is similar to *Florida v. J.L.*, 529 U.S. 266, 120 S. Ct. 1375, 146 L. Ed. 2d 254 (2000), in that the tipster's information fell below the required threshold for reliability according to the Court. The Court found that in *J.L.*, the anonymous tip failed to demonstrate the informant's veracity, and thus the police were required to corroborate the tip. *Id.* at 274. In *J.L.*, the tipster said that a young, black male standing at a particular bus stop and wearing a plaid shirt was carrying a gun. *Id.* at 268. When police arrived to that location, they did not see a firearm and the officers had no reason to suspect illegal conduct prior to seizing J.L. *Id.*

Martin also argues that the case at hand is dissimilar to State v Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d. In that case, an unidentified motorist reported that he or she was observing a vehicle driving erratically. *Id.* at 733. The motorist gave the location of the driver. Subsequently, the police responded to that area and pulled over that specific vehicle, without actually having any independent observations of the erratic driving. Id. at 734. The Court found that the unidentified motorist provided sufficient justification for an investigative stop based on the fact that the caller left himself open to identification and arrest, the tipster provided verifiable information and contemporaneous observations, and the tip suggested that Rutzinski was an imminent threat to public's safety. Id. at 747-748. The Court also noted that the case alleged a potential imminent danger to public safety, namely, That, along with the sufficient indicia of drunk driving. reliability, outweighed the minimal intrusion that the stop would have presented had Rutzinski not been intoxicated. Id. at 751-752.

This case is unlike J.L. in that Officer Foy did make his own observations prior to Martin being seized, which led to his suspicion that Martin was intoxicated. Officer Foy saw Martin's vehicle in the Taco Bell parking lot, which is where the caller stated the man was sleeping in the vehicle. (R35:6). Officer Foy observed Martin's vehicle unusually parked in the parking lot. The vehicle was parked perpendicular at about a forty-five degree angle to any actual parking spot and the vehicle was occupying about four different parking spots. (R35:7). Officer Foy also observed Martin sleeping in the vehicle. Officer Foy testified that Martin had his head back against the head rest and was holding a taco in one of his hands. (Id.) Prior to making contact with Martin, Officer Foy ran Martin's registration, which revealed that Martin had three prior OWI convictions and he had a .02 alcohol restriction. *Id*. Therefore, Officer Foy made several observations, unlike the officer in J.L. J.L., 529 U.S. 266.

Any one of these facts, standing along, might well be insufficient. However, that is not the test that is applied here. The facts do coalesce to add up to a reasonable suspicion. *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 61, 556 N.W.2d 681, 686 (1996). As the court in *Waldner* stated,

The building blocks of fact accumulate. And as they accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn. In essence, a point is reached where the sum of the whole is greater than the sum of its individual parts. These facts gave rise to a reasonable suspicion that something unlawful might well be afoot.

Id. at 58

Officer Foy not only received a call from dispatch around 12:30AM stating that there was a possible intoxicated driver sleeping in a vehicle in that specific Taco Bell parking lot, but Officer Foy also went there and made several of his own independent observations. He observed the vehicle strangely parked across 4 parking stalls, he observed keys in the ignition of the vehicle, he observed Martin asleep, he observed the taco in Martin's hand while he slept, and he ran a registration check on the vehicle, which revealed Martin had 3 prior OWIs and a .02 alcohol restriction. (R35:7).

Officer Foy had more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch that a crime was being committed. The officer had a suspicion that was grounded in specific, articulable facts and made a reasonable inference from those makes that Martin was committing a crime. Any reasonable police officer in light of his or her training and experience would suspect that Martin was committing a crime.

Additionally, this case is similar to *Rutzinski* in that this case also involved a possible drunk driver, which is potential imminent danger to public safety. *Rutzinski*, 241 Wis. 2d at 751-752. In this case, with all of the independent observations the officer made, along with the potential danger to public safety, it would have been poor police work if the officers failed to investigate the situation.

CONCLUSION

The State believes that the trial court correctly concluded that the officer had reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. Martin based on the reasons listed above. Therefore, the State respectfully requests that this court uphold the decision of the circuit court denying Mr. Martin's motion and uphold the judgment of conviction and sentence.